THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
14<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master In Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-000537

TD Bank, N.A., Successor by Merger to  
Carolina First Bank,

v.

Black Diamond, LLC; J. Christopher  
Lindgren; David A. Brosman; Julie H.  
King; and The Greenery, Inc., Defendants

Of Whom

Black Diamond LLC; J. Christopher  
Lindgren; and David A. Brosman are

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 11 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**  
Respondent  
OCT 18 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Ehrick K. Haight, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 2446)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO TD BANK ON APPELLANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS FOR BREACH OF ITS: DUTY TO MITIGATE, FIDUCIARY DUTY, AND COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DENY APPELLANTS THE RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT MISAPPLY *TROUTMAN* IN STRIKING APPELLANTS' COUNTERCLAIM FOR DURESS?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING TD BANK SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITH RESPECT TO APPELLANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 6, 2012, Respondent, TD Bank, N.A., successor by merger to Carolina First Bank ("TD Bank"), brought this foreclosure action against its borrower and mortgagee, Appellant Black Diamond, LLC ("Black Diamond"). Appellants David A. Brosman ("Brosman") and J. Christopher Lindgren ("Lindgren") were additionally named Defendants by virtue of their respective guarantees (collectively, Black Diamond, Brosman and Lindgren are hereinafter referred to as "Appellants").

Appellants counterclaimed, alleging among other claims, that TD Bank had breached certain Forbearance Agreements it had entered into with Black Diamond on July 28, 2010, ("Forbearance Agreements"). Appellants further alleged TD Bank had violated its duty of good faith and fair dealing. TD Bank brought a Motion to Strike Defendants' Jury Trial Demand and a Motion for Summary Judgment. Both motions were heard on March 24, 2015. TD Bank's Motion to Strike was granted by Order dated June 10, 2015 ("Jury Strike Order"). TD Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment was

granted in part and denied in part by Order dated September 11, 2015 (“Summ. Jmt. Order”).

Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Jury Strike Order on July 7, 2015. Appellants also filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Summ. Jmt. Order, with a Memorandum in Support thereof, on September 22, 2015. In these Motions, Appellants raised the issues now on appeal (Motions for Recon.; Memo. Supp. Motion for Recon.). Appellants’ Motions were denied by issuance of a Form 4 Order dated February 11, 2016. On March 9, 2016, Appellants timely filed and served their Notice of Appeal on TD Bank.

### FACTS

On December 9, 2003, Black Diamond entered into a loan with TD Bank in the original principal amount of \$1,460,000 and later increased to \$2,000,000. The loan was secured by a mortgage on 4.51 acres of property in what would become part of the 1188 Centre Horizontal Property Regime, a commercial/retail development.<sup>1</sup> (R.p. 24, ¶20). The collateral was initially divided into three (3) parcels, Units R, T and CC. The first two units were released from the \$2M Mortgage upon their sale, thereby reducing the outstanding balance due (R.p. 26, ¶27)(R.pp. 143-153). The remaining collateral, Unit CC, contained approximately 61,500 sq. feet of undeveloped land and an approximately 14,550 sq. foot unfinished commercial/retail building (the “Shell Building”).<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>For purposes of this Brief and unless context otherwise requires, the \$2,000,000 note shall be referred to as the “\$2M Note”. The mortgage securing same shall be referenced as the “\$2M Mortgage” and the property secured thereby shall be referred to as “Unit CC”. References shall include all amendments to the respective documents unless otherwise noted.

<sup>2</sup>See R.pp. 407-410 for a depiction of the parcels comprising 1188 Centre. The Shell Building is referred to thereon as the Subject Property. Unit CC also included the two Build to Suit sites adjacent to the Shell Building. The Tire Kingdom and Mattress Firm sites, Units R and T, were sold and released from the \$2M Mortgage.

On January 25, 2008, Black Diamond sought and obtained additional financing from TD Bank for the Black Diamond Business Park, a separate venture. It executed a note in favor of TD Bank in the principal amount of \$3,500,000.00, secured by a mortgage on 9.945 acres.<sup>3</sup> (R.p. 22, ¶9)(R.p. 24, ¶19).

Initially, the foregoing Notes and Mortgages were independent of each other. However, when Black Diamond sought to renew the \$2M Note in August of 2008, TD Bank required that the two loans be cross collateralized and cross defaulted, placing language to that effect in the Renewal Note and in the Modification of Mortgage. (R.p. 59, ¶10)(R.p. 122, ¶5). As part of the foregoing modification transaction, Lindgren and his business partner, Herb G. King, also were required to execute personal guaranties for the payment of both obligations. (R.p. 23, ¶15)(R.pp. 63-70).

In the thick of the escalating real estate crisis, Herb G. King passed away and the loss of his investment capital placed financial hardship on Black Diamond causing it to default in its obligations to TD Bank. In exchange for certain concessions by Black Diamond, including the securing of an additional investor willing to personally guaranty the obligations, TD Bank agreed to forbear in exercising its rights and remedies under the Notes and Mortgages. On July 28, 2010, Black Diamond, the Estate of Herb G. King and TD Bank executed two Forbearance Agreements. (R.pp. 49-56)(R.pp. 63-70). The additional investor/guarantor, Brosman, signed personal guaranties for both Loans on July 30, 2010. (R.pp. 81-94). At the time the Forbearance Agreements were executed,

---

<sup>3</sup>For purposes of this Brief and unless context otherwise requires, the \$3,500,000 note shall be referred to as the "\$3.5M Note". The mortgage securing same shall be referenced as the "\$3.5M Mortgage" and the property secured thereby shall be referred to as the "Business Park". References shall include all amendments to the respective documents unless otherwise noted. When both loans are being referenced in the collective, they shall be referred to as the Loan(s), Notes and/or Mortgages as the context may dictate.

the outstanding balances on the Notes were roughly \$3,145,000 and \$1,857,000 respectively (R.p. 51, ¶2)(R.p. 65, ¶2). The Forbearance Agreements further required Black Diamond to turn over the management of the Business Park and Unit CC to a manager to be designated by TD Bank. (R.p. 53, ¶6F)(R.p. 67, ¶6F). In accordance with the Forbearance Agreements, Black Diamond retained the services of William Bosley, CCIM, CPM (“Bosley”).

Black Diamond continued to actively market the Shell Building for sale or lease with the knowledge of both Bosley and TD Bank. On September 2, 2010, less than two months after the execution of the Forbearance Agreements, Black Diamond received a bona fide offer from Ceagull Investments, LLC for the purchase of the Shell Building in the amount of \$1,325,000 (the “Offer”). The Offer was contingent upon TD Bank’s approval of the partition and sale. (R.p. 441). **To be clear, this was not a request for a short sale.** Had it approved the partition and sale of the Shell Building, TD Bank would have retained the undeveloped portion of Unit CC as collateral (nearly one-half of the total acreage then securing the \$2M Mortgage). TD Bank also remained secured by the Business Park via the cross collateralization of the Loans.

The prior dealings of the parties show that partial releases had been permitted for the portions of the collateral designated as Units R and T, and therefore, Black Diamond had every reason to expect that TD Bank would not unreasonably withhold permission to partition Unit CC. Yet despite communicating the Offer to TD Bank (R.pp. 425-430), and following up several times (R.pp. 438-439), Black Diamond received no response from TD Bank. (R.p. 378, line 9 - R.p. 379, line 5)(R.p. 439). There is no documentation in the record to support that TD Bank gave any consideration to the Offer at all. To the

contrary, the evidence shows TD Bank was secretly soliciting offers on the property from others. (R.pp. 446-449). In furtherance of that effort, and again without disclosure to Black Diamond, TD Bank was also utilizing Bosley's services directly for its own self-serving purposes. (R.p. 391, line 1 - p. 393, line 21), illustrating that TD Bank was arranging for appraisals and environmental reports at Black Diamond's expense through Bosley).

The unreasonableness of TD Bank's failure to even give consideration to a partition of Unit CC, coupled with its self serving interference with Black Diamond's contractual relationship with Bosley is at the heart of this case. The record indicates, for example, that TD Bank directed the payment of Black Diamond's bills (R.pp. 460-461); collected rents (R.p. 469); and authorized the eviction of tenants (R.p. 470). In fact, TD Bank internally regarded Bosley as its receiver and treated him as such.(R.p. 424). Bosley in turn rendered "confidential" reports to TD Bank casting Black Diamond, the property owner (to whom Bosley owed fiduciary duties) in a negative light and urged it to formally take over control of the property, (R.p. 434)(R.p. 484), all the while furthering his own business interests with TD Bank. (R.p. 492). The entirety of Unit CC was later sold in August, 2015, to a third party for \$125,000 less than the Offer on the Shell Building alone. (R.p. 358).

Appellants maintain that TD Bank breached its covenant of good faith and fair dealing under both the \$2M Mortgage and the Forbearance Agreements by failing to give reasonable consideration to Black Diamond's request for partition of Unit CC and a partial release of the Shell Building. (R.pp. 176-177, ¶¶26, 27 & 28)(R.pp. 379, line 22 - p. 82, line 21). It is not in dispute that under the terms of the \$2M Mortgage, approval of

a partition of the property was at TD Bank's discretion. (R.p. 115, ¶11). Nor do the parties dispute that at the time the Offer was received, Black Diamond was in compliance with the terms and provisions of the Forbearance Agreements. Appellants further assert that TD Bank's direct involvement in the operation and management of the property and the degree of control it exercised over Bosley, as the property manager, created a fiduciary relationship between it and Black Diamond. Appellants further contend that TD Bank breached this fiduciary duty through the interference and self-serving actions of its loan officer, Mike Rose. (R.pp. 177-178, ¶¶31-32)(R.pp. 356-357).

### ARGUMENTS

- I. A COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING AND A DUTY TO MITIGATE DAMAGES EXISTS IN EVERY CONTRACT. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS INAPPROPRIATE TO THE EXTENT THE TRIAL COURT FOUND THAT TD BANK DID NOT OWE A DUTY TO GIVE REASONABLE CONSIDERATION TO BLACK DIAMOND'S REQUEST FOR PARTITION AND PARTIAL RELEASE OF ITS MORTGAGE.

In finding TD Bank did not have a duty to mitigate its damages and did not breach its covenant of good faith and fair dealing, the trial court dispensed with fundamental and generally accepted principles of contract law. "[T]here exists in every contract an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing." Hotel and Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC, 414 S.C. 635, 780 S.E.2d 263 (Ct. App. 2015) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); see also Time Warner Cable v. Condo Services, Inc., 381 S.C. 275, 285, 672 S.E. 2d 816, 820 (Ct.App. 2009)(internal quotation marks and citations omitted). There is no carve out for mortgage contracts. In fact, our Supreme Court has recognized, at least with respect to home loans, that mortgagees do

owe borrowers a duty to treat in good faith. See e.g. S.C. Sup. Ct. Adm. Order, Mortgage Foreclosure Actions (2011-05-02-01).

Our courts have also held that the duty to mitigate losses applies to all contracts and that the reasonableness of a party's actions to mitigate damages is a question of fact which cannot be decided as a matter of law when there is conflicting evidence. Cisson Constr., Inc. v. Reynolds & Assocs., Inc., 311 S.C. 499, 503, 429 S.E.2d 847, 849 (Ct.App. 1993)(internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

The trial court relied upon foreign authority for the proposition that a mortgagee does not owe a mortgagor any duty to accept a “short sale.” (R.pp. 499-500). However, even if our South Carolina courts were to adopt this position, a mortgagee’s duty to mitigate or deal in good faith with respect to **a “short sale” is not what is before the court.** What is at issue is whether TD Bank had an obligation to give reasonable consideration to a **partition** of Unit CC in order to permit a sale of a portion of the collateral. This is a very important distinction because the \$2M Mortgage expressly placed approval of such partition at the discretion of TD Bank. Specifically, it contains the following provision: “Mortgagor will not partition or subdivide the Property without Lender’s prior written consent.” (R.p. 115, ¶11). When an agreement grants a contracting party discretion in performing its duties and an unreasonable exercise of that party’s discretion causes harm to the other party, the duty of good faith and fair dealing is invoked. Mudge v. Bank of America, N.A., 2013 WL 6095561, at 2 (2013 D.N.H 159); Ruivo v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 2012 WL 5845452, at 3 (D.N.H.).

This grant of discretion created an obligation on the part of TD Bank to give Black Diamond’s request to partition and sell the Shell Building reasonable

consideration. The Appellants submitted testimony from three witnesses establishing that TD Bank never even responded to the request. (R.p. 378, line 6 - p. 379, line 5)(R.p. 439). There was no evidence that TD Bank's loan officer even presented the Offer for consideration, much less that it was actually evaluated on its merits. In fact, the evidence indicates TD Bank's loan officer was secretly attempting to broker a deal with others for the development of the property without disclosure to Appellants. (R.pp. 446-447).

Our courts have recognized that an implied covenant of good faith or a duty to mitigate will not prevent a lender from doing that which provisions of its contract expressly give it the right to do. *Hotel, Supra* at 653, 780 S.E.2d at 273 (holding Lender had the express contractual right to sell or assign its mortgage); and *Cisson, Supra* at 503, 429 S.E.2d at 849 (holding lender did not have to move against the collateral before pursuing a guarantor). However, TD Bank was not asked to forego a remedy to which it was entitled or to modify or restructure the loan as in *Hotel* and *Cisson*. In those cases, the borrowers were in default and the bank was within its rights to pursue the remedies or actions in question. - Not only was Black Diamond in full compliance with the Forbearance Agreements at the time the Offer was received, it had every reason to expect that its request for the partition and sale of the Shell Building would be granted based on the parties' prior course of dealings. TD Bank's unreasonable refusal to consider the Offer not only frustrated Appellants' justified expectations, it caused them to incur substantial financial losses and forced them into default of the Forbearance Agreements.

II. WHEN TD BANK ENTERED INTO FORBEARANCE AGREEMENTS AND EXERCISED DIRECTION AND CONTROL OVER APPELLANTS' PROPERTY MANAGER FOR ITS OWN BENEFIT AND TO THE DETRIMENT OF THE APPELLANTS, ITS ACTIONS EXCEEDED THE NORMAL BANK/CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW, NO FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP EXISTED.

While the normal relationship between a bank and its customer is one of creditor-debtor and not fiduciary in nature, a fiduciary duty may be created in certain circumstances. See e.g. *Burwell v. S.C. Nat'l Bank*, 288 S.C. 34,40, 340 S.E.2d 786, 790 (1986) (fiduciary duty owed when bank advises a depositor as part of services the bank offers). Appellants contend, and the record supports, that TD Bank did alter its normal banking relationship with Appellant Black Diamond when it undertook management of Black Diamond's Business Park through its hand-picked agent, Bosley.

As a threshold matter, "questions of agency ordinarily should not be resolved by summary judgment where there are any facts giving rise to an inference of an agency relationship." *Fernander v. Thigpen*, 278 S.C. 140, 142, 293 S.E.2d 424, 425 (1982) (internal quotation marks omitted). "If there are any facts tending to prove the relationship of agency, it then becomes a question for the jury[,]" and the grant of summary judgment is inappropriate. *Gathers v. Harris Teeter Supermarket*, 282 S.C. 220, 226, 317 S.E.2d 748, 752 (Ct.App. 1984).

The Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (Am. Law Inst. 2006), defines agency as "the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a 'principal') manifests assent to another person (an 'agent') that the agent shall act on the principal's behalf and subject to the principal's control." That Bosley assented to act on behalf of TD Bank and was under its control is clear from the record. TD Bank even went so far as to consider

Bosley its receiver, giving rise to Appellants' claims that he was serving in a dual agency role. As such, any fiduciary duty Bosley owed to Appellant Black Diamond can and should be ascribed to TD Bank, including a duty to disclose material facts that may have affected its interests and a duty against self-dealing. *Burwell, Supra* 40–41, 340 S.E.2d 790.

III. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DID NOT PRECLUDE A COUNTER CLAIM FOR BREACH OF COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING.

TD Bank breached its implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing when it failed to give consideration to the Offer as outlined above. The Offer was received on September 2, 2010, and conveyed to TD Bank shortly thereafter. (R.p. 426). Therefore, the breaches that are alleged to have occurred date from late 2010. The suit was brought in 2012. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1), an action upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied, must be brought within three (3) years. Furthermore, the implied covenant at issue arises from the \$2M Mortgage and under S.C. Code §15-3-520, the statute of limitations on a sealed instrument is twenty (20) years.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANTS A JURY TRIAL. THEIR COUNTERCLAIMS ARE LEGAL, NOT EQUITABLE, AND ARISE OUT OF TD BANKS' OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE NOTES, MORTGAGES AND FORBEARANCE AGREEMENTS.

It is undisputed that the underlying complaint in this action is equitable. Therefore, to warrant a jury trial, Appellants' counterclaims must be both legal and compulsory. *Wachovia v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 329, 755 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2014). The legal analysis applied by our Supreme Court in *First-Citizens Bank and Trust Co. of South Carolina v. Hucks*, 305 S.C. 296, 408 S.E.2d 222 (1991), is illustrative, as the

counterclaims are similar to those in this case. In First-Citizens, a bank had brought an equitable action for declaratory judgment regarding the administration of a trust. The defendant brought counterclaims for breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract, alleging monetary damages.<sup>4</sup> Finding that those counterclaims were undisputedly legal in nature, the Supreme Court next addressed the crucial question of whether the counterclaims were compulsory or permissive. *Id.* at 298, 408 S.E.2d at 223.

By definition, a counterclaim is compulsory if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party's claim. Rule 13(a), SCRPC. Finding that the counterclaims bore a logical relationship to the underlying trust which was the subject of the bank's equitable claim, the court in First-Citizens determined them to be compulsory in nature and not subject to the jurisdiction of the master-in-equity. Here, as in First-Citizens, the Appellants' legal counterclaims also bear a close logical relationship to the underlying documents on which the complaint is based as the facts enumerated below clearly support.

It is not in dispute that the Forbearance Agreements served to modify the Notes. (R.p. 22, ¶10 & ¶12). Importantly, the Appellants were not in default under the Forbearance Agreements at the time of TD Bank's alleged breaches. (R.pp. 161-166). Indeed, the TD Bank's actions materially impaired Black Diamond's ability to honor the terms of the Forbearance Agreements, resulting in this foreclosure action. (R.p. 375, line 10 - p. 376, line 13). The facts further show that at the time the Forbearance Agreements

---

<sup>4</sup>Appellants counterclaims for breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, duress and violation of S.C. Code Ann. §39-5-10 et seq., the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (hereinafter "SCUTPA") all seek monetary damages and are therefore legal in nature.

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