THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity/Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000537

TD Bank N.A., Successor by Merger
to Carolina First Bank.....Respondent,

v.

Black Diamond, LLC; J. Christopher
Lindgren; David A. Brosman;
Julie H. King; and The Greenery, Inc.....Defendants,

Of Whom

Black Diamond, LLC; J. Christopher
Lindgren; David A. Brosman are.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michael J. Bogle (S.C. Bar No. 71125)

Email: mbogle@wcsr.com

Clayton M. Custer (S.C. Bar No. 68495)

Email: ccuster@wcsr.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED TD BANK'S MOTION TO STRIKE APPELLANTS' JURY TRIAL DEMAND

The trial court was correct in granting TD Bank's Motion to Strike Appellants' Jury Trial Demand, and this Court should affirm the same. As set forth below, Appellants are not entitled to a jury trial on TD Bank's foreclosure and deficiency claims, nor are they so entitled on their counterclaims against TD Bank. Appellants have furthermore waived the right to a trial by jury in this matter by way of jury trial waivers in the loan documents.

A. Appellants Are Not Entitled to a Jury Trial on TD Bank's Equitable Foreclosure and Deficiency Claims Against Them

Foreclosure actions, like this one, are equitable, and, as a result, parties to such an action are "not entitled, as a matter of right, to a jury trial." Carolina First Bank v. BADD, LLC, 414 S.C. 289, 293, 778 S.E.2d 106, 108 (2015), reh'g granted (Apr. 9, 2015), reh'g dismissed (Nov. 6, 2015); see also Rule 71(a), SCRPC ("Actions to foreclose liens or obtain partition of real property *shall be tried by the court*, and shall ordinarily be referred to a master pursuant to Rule 53") (emphasis added). In BADD, the South Carolina Supreme Court confirmed that guarantors, who are parties to a foreclosure action "for the purpose of collecting a deficiency," are not entitled to a jury trial on that claim because deficiency judgments are "incidental to the relief sought in a foreclosure action." Id., at 294, 778 S.E.2d at 108 (internal citations omitted). In so holding, the BADD court relied on S.C.Code Ann. § 29-3-660 (1976), which specifically

permits *a court* to award a deficiency judgment against a guarantor in a foreclosure action. Section 29-3-660 provides:

In actions to foreclose mortgages[,] . . . if the mortgage debt be secured by the covenant or obligation of any person other than the mortgagor the plaintiff may make such person a party to the action and *the court may adjudge payment of the residue of such debt remaining unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises against such other person and may enforce such judgment as in other cases.*

S.C.Code Ann. § 29-3-660 (1976) (emphasis added).

As noted above, this lawsuit is a *foreclosure* action, which is equitable in nature and in which TD Bank seeks to: (1) foreclose on the mortgages that Black Diamond executed in its favor and (2) recover any deficiency after the foreclosure sale from the guarantors, Lindgren and Brosman. As a result, Black Diamond is not entitled to a jury trial on TD Bank's foreclosure action against it, and the guarantors, whom "the Bank included . . . as [parties] to its foreclosure action only for the purpose of collecting a deficiency should one be adjudged," are likewise not entitled to a jury trial because "a party does not have a right to a jury trial" on a deficiency claim. BADD, at 294, 778 S.E.2d at 108.

B. In this Equitable Action, Appellants Are Not Entitled to a Jury Trial on Their Permissive Counterclaims Against TD Bank

A defendant is "entitled to a jury trial on his counterclaims in an equitable action," like this one, "only if the counterclaims are legal and compulsory." Id., at 295, 778 S.E.2d at 109. "A counterclaim is compulsory if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the party's claim. In a foreclosure action, a counterclaim arises out of the same transaction or occurrence and is thus compulsory, *when there is a 'logical relationship' between the counterclaim and the enforceability of the guaranty*

agreement.” Id. (emphasis added). As a result, in BADD, a foreclosure action in which the bank sought a deficiency against a guarantor, the Supreme Court held that a guarantor who asserted counterclaims that lacked a logical relationship with the *guaranty agreement’s enforceability* was not entitled to a jury trial on those claims.

The BADD guarantor asserted breach of contract and civil conspiracy legal counterclaims against the bank. In analyzing whether the counterclaims were compulsory or permissive, the BADD court found that — as in the present action — “*the execution of the guaranty agreements* was the ‘transaction or occurrence’ that gave rise to [the guarantor’s] inclusion in the Bank’s foreclosure complaint.” Id. (emphasis added). Thus, in order to be compulsory, the guarantor’s counterclaims had to have a logical relationship with the *guaranty agreement’s execution or enforceability*. The BADD court found that the guarantor’s counterclaims were based on “an alleged conspiracy between the Bank” and a third party to “*induce [the debtor’s] default*” on the *underlying notes* and the Bank’s alleged breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, which was “implied in the note, mortgage, and guaranty agreements.” Id., at 295-96, 778 S.E.2d at 109-10 (emphasis added). The court held that the counterclaims did not have a “logical relationship to either the *execution or enforceability of the guaranty agreements*,” noting that the claims instead “presume[d] the enforceability of the guaranty agreements because the allegations, if true, would not render the guarantees unenforceable.” Id., at 295, 778 S.E.2d at 109 (emphasis added). As a result, the counterclaims were deemed permissive and did not entitle the guarantor to a jury trial.

Like the BADD guarantor’s counterclaims, those of Appellants are permissive in nature and do not entitle them to a jury trial because they bear no “logical relationship”

with the transaction that gave rise to TD Bank's deficiency action against them — the execution of the notes, mortgages and guaranty agreements. Lindgren and Brosman have asserted the following counterclaims against TD Bank: breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, duress, interference with prospective economic relations and unfair trade practices. Like the BADD counterclaims, none of these legal counterclaims "affect the execution or enforceability" of the underlying loan documents. Instead, they are premised on events that occurred *after* the execution of those documents. (See, e.g., Brosman Answer, ¶¶ 26-40, R. pp. 184-87; Black Diamond/Lindgren Answer, ¶¶ 26-40, R. pp. 176-79.) Importantly, Appellants, in their Memorandum in Opposition to TD Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment, confirmed that their counterclaims are based on alleged events that occurred "*subsequent*" to the execution of the subject loan documents. (See, e.g., Memorandum in Opposition, pp. 4-5, R. pp. 354-55 (stating that the purported breach of contract was "subsequent to" and "after" the execution of the forbearance agreements).)

In support of their position, Appellants cite to a twenty-five year old declaratory judgment action in a dispute over a trust, First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. of S. Carolina v. Hucks, 305 S.C. 296, 408 S.E.2d 222 (1991). In that case, as in BADD, the court begins its analysis by stating that "the test for determining if counterclaims are permissive or compulsory is whether there is a logical relationship between the claim and the counterclaim." Id., at 298, 408 S.E.2d at 223 (citing Rule 13(a), SCRCP). Applying that standard, the court found a "logical relationship" to exist between the plaintiff's declaration of rights arising in the administration of a trust agreement and the defendant's counterclaim alleging a breach of that same contractual agreement. Id. As set forth

above, however, like those claims at issue in BADD, Appellants' counterclaims lack such a logical relationship. The test is not whether the counterclaims relate to the borrower-lender relationship, generally, as Appellants' suggest, but rather the execution or enforceability of the documents giving rise to the claims — in the present case, the subject loan documents. See BADD, at 295, 778 S.E.2d at 109. Counterclaims based on acts or occurrences taking place after the execution of those documents — a fact admitted by Appellants in their own pleadings, see Memorandum in Opposition, pp. 4-5 — do not constitute a sufficient logical relationship, as set forth in BADD.

Consequently, Appellants are not entitled to a jury trial on their legal counterclaims against TD Bank.

C. Appellants Further Contractually Waived Their Right to a Jury Trial

Appellants contractually waived their right to a jury trial when they executed the loan documents at issue in the case. Under South Carolina law, “[a] party may waive the right to a jury trial by contract.” Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 63, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866 (Ct.App.2002). Further, South Carolina courts have routinely enforced “jury trial waivers” that are “executed . . . knowingly and voluntarily.” Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass’n v. Blackburn, 407 S.C. 321, 332, 755 S.E.2d 437, 443 (2014), reh’g denied (Apr. 2, 2014). “[W]hen a person signs a document, he is responsible for exercising reasonable care to protect himself by reading the document and making sure of its contents. The law does not impose a duty on the bank to explain to an individual what he could learn from simply reading the document.” Id., at 332-33, 755 S.E.2d at 443 (internal citations omitted).

Here, *all* Appellants — Black Diamond, Lindgren and Brosman — each individually and knowingly waived their right to a trial by jury with regard to the subject

matter of this lawsuit. The \$3,500,000 Note, cross-collateralized with the \$2,000,000 Note, in capital letters conspicuously located directly above the signature line, unambiguously states that Black Diamond:

WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, RELATING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO THE LOAN EVIDENCED BY THIS NOTE, . . . THE SECURITY INSTRUMENT, THE LOAN AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER SECURITY DOCUMENTS OR **ANY ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF LENDER OR BORROWER.**

(\$3,500,000 Note, p. 2, R. p. 48 (emphasis added).) As discussed herein, the claims and counterclaims at issue in this action relate directly to certain alleged “acts or omissions” of TD Bank and Appellants. Therefore, pursuant the plain, ordinary meaning of the \$3,500,000 Note’s language, Black Diamond waived any right to a jury trial in this lawsuit.

Like Black Diamond, Lindgren and Brosman similarly contractually waived any right to a jury trial in this case, as the subject guaranty agreements clearly, and in conspicuous, capitalized language directly above or near the signature lines, provide that the guarantors unequivocally waived such a right. For example, the Lindgren Guaranty Agreement corresponding to the \$3,500,000 Note states:

TO THE EXTENT NOW OR HEREAFTER PERMITTED BY LAW, THE GUARANTOR AND ANY OTHER GUARANTOR WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO **ANY ACTION, CLAIM, SUIT OR PROCEEDING ON OR ARISING OUT OF THE LOANS, THE OBLIGATIONS, THE CONDUCT OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE LENDER AND THE BORROWER, AND/OR THE CONDUCT OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE LENDER AND ANY GUARANTOR.**

(Lindgren \$3,500,000 Guaranty, ¶ 21, R. p. 80 (emphasis added); see, e.g., Brosman \$2,000,000 Guaranty, ¶ 17, R. p. 93; Brosman \$3,500,000 Guaranty, ¶ 17, R. p. 86.²) Pursuant to the simple construction of the guaranty agreements' language, Lindgren and Brosman waived any right to a jury trial in this matter, which indisputably "arise[s] out of the loans, the obligations, the conduct [or] the relationship between [TD Bank and Black Diamond] and/or [Black Diamond and the guarantors]." (Id.)

In support of their position that the subject jury trial waivers do not sufficiently encompass the claims at issue, Appellants cite to N. Charleston Joint Venture v. Kitchens of Island Fudge Shoppe, Inc., 307 S.C. 533, 416 S.E.2d 637 (1992), a case involving a jury trial waiver within a commercial lease. However, in that case, the party against whom the plaintiff sought to enforce the waiver (a guarantor of the lease) was not a party to, nor did he ever sign, the document. Id., at 534, 416 S.E.2d at 637-38. As set forth above, here, there is no question that *all* Appellants executed a jury trial waiver encompassing the types of claims at issue.

Appellants also cite to Fisher v. Stevens, 355 S.C. 290, 584 S.E.2d 149 (Ct.App.2003), however, that case involved an exculpatory agreement — not a jury trial waiver — which went so far as to waive "responsibility and risk of bodily injury, death or property damages due to the negligence or gross negligence or 'releases' or

² Lindgren's Guaranty Agreement corresponding to the \$2,000,000 Note further provides that Lindgren consents to "any waiver" of Black Diamond, which as noted above, includes a waiver of a jury trial in this matter. (Lindgren \$2,000,000 Guaranty, ¶ 9, R. p. 73.)

otherwise,”” involving obvious public policy concerns not at play in the jury trial waivers at issue in the present action. *Id.*, at 293, 584 S.E.2d at 151.

Accordingly, as Appellants contractually waived any right to a jury trial, the lower court’s decision should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED, IN PART, TD BANK’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

TD Bank moved for summary judgment on all of Appellants’ counterclaims in this action. The trial court granted summary judgment on Appellants’ claims for breach of fiduciary duty, duress and unfair trade practices, also granting partial summary judgment on Appellants’ claim for breach of contract and of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing to the extent that claim is based on the cross-collateralization of the loans and TD Bank’s decision not to agree to a proposed short sale. (Order, p. 9, R. p. 16.) Summary judgment was denied as to those counterclaims for negligent misrepresentation, interference with prospective economic relations and breach of contract and of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing to the extent such a claim is not based on the cross-collateralization of the loans or the Bank’s decision not to consent to the proposed short sale. (*Id.*, pp. 9-10, R. pp. 16-17.)

For those reasons set forth below, the trial court’s Order should be affirmed.

A. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment on Appellants’ Counterclaim for Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

In its Order, the trial court granted partial summary judgment on Appellants’ counterclaims for breach of contract and of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing “to the extent that claim is based on the cross-collateralization of the loans and the Bank’s decision not to agree to a proposed short sale.” (Order, p. 9, R. p. 16.) In their

Brief, Appellants challenge only the court's ruling as to a claim premised on the Bank's decision not to agree to a proposed short sale, not addressing the cross-collateralization of the loans. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 6-9.)

Appellants begin their argument by taking issue with TD Bank's characterization of their request that TD Bank partition the property secured by the \$2,000,000 Mortgage and release its mortgage, to accommodate a September 2010 non-binding term sheet between Ceagull and Black Diamond. Without getting into a semantic argument about the definition of the term "short sale,"³ it should be noted that the non-binding term sheet was in the gross amount of \$1,325,000 — with some unknown lesser amount to be paid to TD Bank after deducting buyer and seller broker commissions and attorneys' fees). (TD Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment, Ex. 3, R. pp. 275-77.) At that time, roughly \$5,000,000 was owed on the cross-collateralized property, roughly \$1,857,000 on the parcel of property that was the subject of the non-binding term sheet, and \$3,145,000 on the other cross-collateralized parcel. (Forbearance Agreements, ¶ 2, R. pp. 51, 65.) Thus, notwithstanding of terminology used, the result of this transaction would have been the release of TD Bank's mortgage on a substantial portion of its collateral for an amount far less than the amount owed both on that particular parcel as well as the collective, cross-collateralized parcels.

³ A short sale has been defined as when "the mortgagor secures the agreement of the mortgagee to release the mortgage upon a bona fide sale to a third party for an agreed upon price below the mortgage loan balance." 2 Michael T. Madison, Jeffry R. Dwyer & Steven W. Bender, Law of Real Estate Financing § 12:10.

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